
 

From: Democratic Services Unit – any further information may be obtained from the reporting 
officer or from Charlotte Forrest, Senior Democratic Services Officer on 0161 342 2346 or 
charlotte.forrest@tameside.gov.uk, to whom any apologies for absence should be notified. 

 

WERNETH LOW COUNTRY PARK JOINT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
 

Day: Wednesday 
Date: 27 July 2022 
Time: 10.30 am 
Place: Lower Higham Visitor Centre - Werneth Low Country Park 

 

Item 
No. 

AGENDA Page 
No 

1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

 To receive any apologies for the meeting from Members of the Joint 
Committee. 

 

2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

 To receive any declarations of interest from Members of the Joint Committee.  

3.   MINUTES  1 - 4 

 The Minutes of the proceedings of the previous meeting of the Werneth Low 
Country Park Joint Management Committee held on 23 February 2022 to be 
approved as a correct record. 

 

4.   MEMBERSHIP OF THE JOINT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 2022/23   

 Tameside MBC 
 

Councillors Bowden, Colbourne, Cooper, Kitchen, Owen, Robinson and 
Roderick 
 
Hyde War Memorial Trust 
 
Messrs Ainger, Bell, Gradwell, Mrs Ellis and Mrs Evans 

 

5.   APPOINTMENT OF CHAIR AND DEPUTY CHAIR FOR 2022/23   

 In accordance with the decision taken at the meeting of the Joint Management 
Committee held on 5 August 1986, the offices of Chair and Deputy Chair are held 

in rotation by a member of each of the constituent bodies.  The Committee should 
in respect of this Municipal Year 2022/23, select the Chair from Hyde War 
Memorial Trust and the Deputy Chair from Tameside MBC. 

 

6.   GREENSPACE DEVELOPMENT OFFICER'S REPORT  5 - 10 

 To consider the report of the Greenspace Development Officer. 
 
 
 

 

Public Document Pack



 

 

From: Democratic Services Unit – any further information may be obtained from the reporting 
officer or from Charlotte Forrest, Senior Democratic Services Officer on 0161 342 2346 or 
charlotte.forrest@tameside.gov.uk, to whom any apologies for absence should be notified. 
 

 

Item 
No. 

AGENDA Page 
No 

7.   DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS   

 To note the dates of future meetings of the Joint Management Committee as 
follows, commencing at 10:30am:- 
 

 30 November 2022 

 22 February 2023 

 



 
 

 
 

WERNETH LOW COUNTRY PARK JOINT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
 

23 February 2022 
 

 
Commenced: 10.30 am  

 

Terminated: 11.30 am 

Present: Councillor Robinson (Chair), Mr Gradwell (Deputy Chair), Councillors 
Bowden, Chadwick, Cooper, J Fitzpatrick and Kitchen, Mr Bell and 
Mrs Ellis 
 

In Attendance: Nicola Marshall Greenspace Development Manager 
 Katie Lowry Greenspace Development Officer 
 
Apologies for Absence: Councillor Owen and Mr Ainger 

 
 

12.   
 

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

There were no declarations of interest. 
 
 
13.   
 

MINUTES  
 

The minutes of the Werneth Low Country Park Joint Management Committee held on the 24 
November 2021 were agreed as a correct record. 
 
 
14.   
 

GREENSPACE DEVELOPMENT OFFICER'S REPORT  
 

The Greenspace Development Officer submitted a report informing members of the activities 
undertaken within the Country Park since the last meeting of the Joint Management Committee held 
on 28 July 2021. 
 
The report outlined the following:- 
 

 Maintenance of Sites 

 Public Events 

 The Lower Higham Visitor Centre 

 Werneth Low Country Park Greenspace Volunteer Service 
 
With regards to Maintenance of Sites it was reported that there had been a spate of fly tipping 
incidents along Werneth Low Road, at the masts and down Higham Lane.  Thanks were extended 
to the street cleansing team for their assistance with clearing the items.  A Trust farmer had 
undertaken an emergency repair of the post and rail fencing to the field running alongside the riding 
track at the rear of the Cenotaph.  In the coming months some longer lengths of Post and Rail 
fencing would need to be repaired or replaced by a contractor.   
 
The Greenspace Development Officer reported that they had received complaints about the 
behaviour of dogs and their owners in and around the country park, namely owners not controlling 
their dogs, which was causing concern.  In addition, there had been an increase in dog owners 
leaving bags of dog waste in bushes, which was especially prevalent at the Baron Road entrance to 
the Country Park.  Officers would explore the possibility of the PDSA van visiting to promote 
responsible dog ownership.  The situation would be monitored and further action taken if necessary.     
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3.



 
 

 
 

The volunteers continued to work on the formal gardens, orchard and car park area in addition to 
carrying out work on the flags at the entrance of the visitor’s centre and around the herb garden.  
There had been two incidents of damage to the knee rail fencing, protecting the driveway to the 
garage from the car park, that had been repaired by the volunteers.  The situation would be 
monitored to see if in future some areas needed to be widened in order to prevent routine damage. 
 
The Committee were notified that the Council’s Arboricultural team had removed a dead tree from 
the wood yard next to the car park.  It was hoped that the tree stump would be used by local 
woodpeckers.  New fireproof secure storage boxes had been installed in the garage along with the 
installation of fire extinguishers with appropriate signage.  The Council’s Estates Team had installed 
a replacement memorial bench near the Cenotaph, overlooking the riding track.  The Estates Team 
would be approached to see if the tractor could scrape the deep mud that had formed near the 
‘Shippons’ following a complaint received from a local cyclist who reported that the area was 
impassable.  The cyclist also requested that other tracks from the car park up to the Cenotaph be 
opened to cycling by removing the kissing gates.  However, this would be costly and enable cyclists 
to descend a very steep slope quickly, causing potential collision with other site users.  Officers 
would instead look to make improvements to the existing cycle track.   
 
The Committee were advised that the quotes relating to various footpath works across the Country 
Park, as detailed in the report, had expired and the new quotes were likely to be approximately 15-
20% higher.  Trust representatives were asked what they could contribute to the footpath works and 
if there were any cost issues then a discussion could be had to see which of the works could be 
prioritised.  It was imperative that a decision be made as the work was seasonal and the contractors 
needed to be booked in order to undertake the work in the upcoming drier months. 
 
With regards to Public Events, the committee were informed that Werneth Low Country Park would 
be the venue for the Queen’s Platinum Jubilee Beacons, which was part of an international 
(commonwealth) wide project where beacons would be lit all across the commonwealth at sundown 
on 2 June 2022.  The running order of the event was detailed in the report and it was proposed that 
the location of the beacon be near to the Cenotaph.  The views of the Committee on the event were 
welcomed before permission was given to Cultural Services to progress with the arrangements.  
 
It was reported that the Cheshire Branch of the Dry Stone Walling Association had offered two more 
courses to be completed at Werneth Low over 2022.  The first course would take place on 14 and 
15 of May and the second course would take place on 10 and 11 of September.  Previous courses 
had provided an excellent standard of rebuild and two more courses would improve more of the 
riding track wall, which was in a poor state of repair.  The Tour De Manc would visit Werneth Low in 
May 2022 and a willow picture frame would be installed on Werneth Low Road from May until 
September 2022 to encourage walking and cycling in Tameside and to highlight the beautiful 
countryside the Borough has to offer. 
 
With regards to the Lower Higham Visitor Centre it was noted that further work had been completed 
on the Visitor Centre by the Trust to enhance visitor facilities as and when visitors could access the 
centre again.  Trust representatives advised that a fire and safety inspection had been carried out 
that had resulted in a significant amount of expenditure.  Sound insulation between the Visitors 
Centre and the flat had been installed and the kitchen conversion was on course for completion.  
The Trust looked forward to welcoming visitors back to the centre once final compliance was 
achieved.  Trust representatives enquired about the contract for burglar and fire alarms and stated 
they were under the impression that the Council were arranging for the contract to be reinstated.  
The Greenspace Development Manager advised that contact details were required in order to setup 
the contract and had requested these on previous occasions but had not been sent them.  They 
requested that the Trust provide names and contact details to the Greenspace Development 
Manager for them to forward onto the alarm company in order to get the contract reinstated. 
 
The Werneth Low Country Park Greenspace Volunteer Service continued to take place every 
Tuesday completing various essential tasks around the site with weekly litter picking.  Examples of 
completed works were appended to the report and included clearing vegetation from the ‘Shippons’ 

Page 2



 
 

 
 

and Baron Field, dry stone wall repairs from Quarry Car park to the Cenotaph, general maintenance 
work on Quarry Car park and hedge laying along Werneth Low Road from Lofty Top towards Quarry 
Car Park and along the riding track from Higham Cottages. 
 
The Greenspace Development Officer delivered a presentation that provided a virtual walk around 
Werneth Low Country Park and highlighted work and projects that had been undertaken by the 
volunteer service. 
 
A Trust representative advised the Committee that pupils from a local school would like to erect 
some homemade bird boxes as part of an Easter trail and the teacher would liaise directly with the 
Greenspace Development Officer on the location of the boxes in and around the Country Park.  
Committee members also requested that the Easter event that used to take place within the Country 
Park before the pandemic be reinstated.  A discussion was had on locking mechanisms on gates 
and scattering ashes in the Country Park.  The Greenspace Development Manager advised that the 
scattering of cremated remains was not allowed in any of the Council’s greenspaces and signposted 
members of the Committee to the Memorial Benches and Trees (tameside.gov.uk) policy on the 
Council website.   
 
The Chair requested an update on the Trust’s position with regards to the Joint Management 
Agreement following on from the Council’s request to reconvene working group meetings at a 
previous meeting of the Joint Management Committee (Minute 6 refers).  A Trust representative 
advised that a new local solicitor had been appointed and the Trust had recently received 
notification that the solicitors were in receipt of all documentation and would contact the Council 
directly with regard to the matter.  The Greenspace Development Manager welcomed the update 
and expressed the need to reconvene the working group meetings as soon as possible.  They 
advised that they would notify the Council’s Legal team that the Trust’s solicitor would be making 
direct contact with them soon. 
 
RESOLVED: 
(i) That the report be noted; 
(ii) That the Trust representatives discuss the proposed footpath works at the next Trust 

meeting and advise the amount they can contribute towards the work to the 
Greenspace Development Manager at their earliest possible convenience;  

(iii) That the Trust representatives discuss the Queen’s Platinum Jubilee Beacon event 
with their own events team and respond with their thoughts to the Greenspace 
Development Manager at their earliest possible convenience.  Once in receipt, the 
Greenspace Development Manager would request that a colleague from Cultural 
Services contacts the Trust directly; and 

(iv) That the Trust notify the Greenspace Development Manager of the names and contact 
details for the alarm contract in order for it to be reinstated. 

 
 
15.   
 

DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS  
 

Members of the Committee requested that they would like to see the walk around the Country Park 
that took place immediately before the meeting reinstated and suggested that the virtual walk 
around the Park that has been shown during meetings remained in place for those who could not 
attend.  The Greenspace Development Manager advised that the walk would be rescheduled as 
and when physical meetings returned.  
 
RESOLVED: 
That the Joint Management Committee meets as follows:- 
 

 27 July 2022 

 30 November 2022 

 22 February 2023 

Page 3

https://www.tameside.gov.uk/countryside/memorialbenchesandtrees#13


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Report To: WERNETH LOW COUNTRY PARK JOINT MANAGEMENT 
COMMITTEE 

Date: 27 July 2022 

Reporting Officer: Emma Varnam - Assistant Director, Operations and 
Neighbourhoods 

Subject: GREENSPACE DEVELOPMENT OFFICER’S REPORT 

Report Summary: 

 

To inform Members of activities undertaken within the Country 
Park since the last meeting of the Joint Management 
Committee (23 February 2022). 

Recommendations: That the report be noted. 

Links to Community Strategy: To ensure that the Country Park is an attractive and 
environmentally friendly place to visit. 

Policy Implications: The activities in the Country Park are in accordance with 
Council policy priorities.  

Financial Implications: 
(Authorised by the Section 151 
Officer) 

The funding for the projects is met by the Operations and 
Greenspace revenue budget. 

Legal Implications: 
(Authorised by the Borough 
Solicitor) 

It is important that the Joint Management Committee is kept 
informed of activities undertaken in the Country Park. 

Risk Management: Activities in the Country Park are kept under review in order to 
ensure any potential risks are dealt with adequately. 

Access to Information: 

 

Background papers and information can be obtained by 
contacting Katie Lowry,  Greenspace Development Officer 

phone:  07519 617 515 

e-mail:  katie.lowry@tameside.gov.uk  

Page 5

Agenda Item 6.

mailto:katie.lowry@tameside.gov.uk


1. MAINTENANCE OF SITES  
 
1.1 We were fortunate to have the Sky Larks return to site in February and signs were put up in 

the fields that nests had been seen by RSPB associates to try and warn dog walkers to 
avoid the nests to prevent disturbance.  Other posters highlighting the ground nesting birds 
have been produced by local school children and put up on site by the Werneth Low 
Environment Group.  Many of these have been torn down and it would be good to think of a 
more robust, semi-permanent way of highlighting the nests next year to prevent 
unnecessary losses of these rare chicks.  
 

1.2 A full site inspection was undertaken by the Greenspace Officer in April 2022; the 
inspection is undertaken twice a year and is done across all Greenspace sites.  The report 
is written up with photographs to illustrate issues and kept on file.  The report assists with 
generating the work programme for the next six months and highlights longer term issues 
that need to be considered.  The inspection has highlighted that lots of the infrastructure in 
the Country Park is getting to the end of its life; fencing, gates and stiles will all need 
replacing in the coming years and we need to find a way of funding these, especially the 
longer stretches of fencing, which are required for stock proofing.  
 

1.3 Volunteers and the TMBC Grounds Maintenance Teams have ensured the Orchard is 
looking great and grass is well maintained.  Volunteers have continued managing the 
formal flower beds, donating extra plants from home and making them look lovely, the 
Spring bulbs were beautiful this year.  Volunteer John Jones has also taken on the re-laying 
and cementing of the cobbles outside ‘The Croft’ Picnic area in the gardens, which now 
looks much better and will hopefully reduce the amount of weeds growing in the area.   

 
1.4 We seem to have had a large increase in the rabbit population in the park, they are digging 

in areas not seen by the volunteers and Officers before.  Some holes are then added to by 
dogs digging at them, which need filling in if near footpaths.  A snare was found on the 
Pipers Clough side of site, reported and removed.  We do not allow snares to be placed 
and those found doing so will be reported to the police.   

 
1.5 Thanks to Greenspace Officer John Courtman for spraying the Japanese Knotweed at 

Baron Fields near Orchard Rise, residents were fearful that this would spread onto their 
properties.  A licence for spraying herbicide near water courses was applied for and granted 
by the Environment Agency and the spraying carried out.  We will now monitor this for 
regrowth and treat again if necessary.  

 
1.6 The Greenspace Officer has been attending meetings of the Werneth Low Environment 

Group who offer support, guidance and assistance for events and projects at Werneth Low.  
Since the last report there have been monthly meetings where the group have come 
together to discuss issues and form ideas.  

 
1.7  Sadly fly tipping has continued around the County Park, mainly along Werneth Low Road, 

Windy Harbour and Beacoms Lane.  Volunteers and locals alert the Council to this if it is 
not known about already and we deal with it as promptly as possible.  Many thanks to the 
Council Street Cleansing teams for their assistance with items which were too large to fit in 
the Ford Ranger.   

 
1.8 Visit Britain and The Manchester Museum jointly approached the Council regarding 

permission to film at Werneth Low for footage to contribute to a documentary about the 
Greening of Greater Manchester.  The filming permission was granted by the Hyde War 
Memorial Trust and took place on 29 March.  

  
 
 
 
 
   Page 6



1.9 As reported at the last few meetings The Greenspace Officer met with a representative of 
the Greater Manchester Ecology Unit to ensure the footpath works described below would 
not impact on the Greater Crested Newt Habitat on site, which it was agreed it would not 
and we can therefore go ahead.  The costs quoted are set out below but these date from 
December 2020 and we have been advised that there is likely to be a 15-20% increase due 
to increased labour and materials costs.  We need the Trust to advise what they can 
contribute to the costs bearing in mind the majority of the path repairs required are on Trust 
Land.  

 
Visitors Centre Carpark path to where it meets Cow Lane main path to the cenotaph:

  Top section above kissing gate - 112m                    £3,351.60 
  Lower section - 112m                        £3,351.60 
 

Higham cottages culvert:  
Clean out the open ditch at the bottom of the bridle path         £   437.00 

  Excavate for and construct pcc flag drainage channels 4nr  £1,722.00 
 

Higham cottages end of riding track:  
130m long        £3,931.20 

 
Cenotaph end of the Disabled path from Quarry carpark:   

  Wheelchair access path - 128m long    £3,830.40 
  Supply and install timber marker posts - 2nr @ £89.25                 £   178.50 
 

Quarry Carpark end of the Disabled Path: 
  Wheelchair access path - 518m      £9,790.20 
  *Excavate for and install 4 sections of land drain (approx. 80m) £1,848.00 

(* dependent on approval from Greater Manchester Ecology Unit with reference to 
Great Crested Newts on site) 

 
Quarry Car Park end Picnic Area:  

Sand down and re-stain 2nr picnic benches    £    294.00 
  Excavate to form 2 short paths to improve access   £    330.75 
  
         TOTAL:  £29,065.25 
Revised cost to take into account delays using 20% increase:   £34,878.30 

 
Additional Works (previously quoted to Dave Cannon): 

 
a) Excavate the vegetation and supply, spread and consolidate 
      Gritstone surfacing from the Cenotaph across to the riding track 
      Corner adjacent to the golf course     £3,237.60 

  
b) Carry out vehicle barrier and stone kerb renewal and straightening 

       in the visitor centre car park      £   730.00 
Revised cost to take into account delays using 20% increase:   £ 4,461.12 
 
1.10 These prices are based on all excavated materials being spread on site.  They are also 

based on the works being carried out in good conditions if possible, which will be in the 
coming months.  As we can accept all, or some of these quotes, it would be good if the 
Joint Committee can agree which paths are the priority and for the spend to be agreed as 
soon as possible to prevent further deterioration of the paths and possible accidents and 
potential personal injury claims through slips trips and falls.  

 
 
 
 
 
 Page 7



2. PUBLIC EVENTS 
 
2.1 The Tour De Manc came through Werneth Low on Sunday 1 May and this year we used 

Quarry Car Park as the base for the refreshment stop.  Signage was installed the week 
before to give notice to users that the car park would be closed for the morning.  The event 
went very well and lots of people from outside the area got to experience the wonderful 
views that can be seen from the Country Park.  

 
2.2 Cheshire Dry Stone Walling Association completed the first of two courses on 14 and 15 

May, which were fully booked.  The riding track up the edge of Cow Lane needed to be 
closed for safety reasons and notices were put up to warn people of this up and coming 
closure.  The participants had excellent weather for the weekend and produced an excellent 
rebuild of the wall, which had been in a poor state of repair.  The second course will be on 
10 and 11 of September 2022. 

 
2.3 The Queen’s Jubilee Beacon event took place on Thursday 2 June.  This was not a public 

event but a small ceremony took place before the Beacon was lit, it could be seen across 
the borough and stayed lit for 1 hour.  Thanks to our colleagues in Culture Services for 
planning this event.  

  
2.4 The Hyde War Memorial Trust’s Peace Day Event took place on 26 June and was a great 

success.  Volunteers contributed on the day of the event by helping with the traffic 
management and litter picking took place at the site before the event to make sure it looked 
perfect.  Thanks to all for good team working and a good afternoon.  

  
     
3. THE LOWER HIGHAM VISITOR CENTRE 
 
3.1 Officers note that further work has been completed on the Visitor Centre by the Trust to 

enhance visitor facilities and an Open Day took place on 10 April with a good turnout.   
 
 
4. WERNETH LOW COUNTRY PARK GREENSPACE VOLUNTEER SERVICE  
 
4.1 The Volunteers Service has continued every Tuesday since the last report, completing 

various essential tasks around the site and weekly litter picking.  Examples of the work 
completed can be found in Appendix 1. 

 
4.2 Volunteer session times have continued to be 10am till 3pm, which has allowed us to 

complete much more on site.  We have continued to use the Garage as shelter and 
storage, which has been working well.  

 
4.3 Hedgelaying was completed for the year with Volunteer Mike Kelly making an excellent job 

of the field boundary hedge.  Mike has completed many days outside of the usual Tuesdays 
to complete this work.  Volunteers on Tuesdays have been removing brashings from the 
field and making dead hedges in other more appropriate areas.       

 
4.4  Further dry stone walling repairs have been completed outside of the Tuesday Sessions by 

Mike Kelly. 
 
4.5  We welcomed temporary Volunteer Dan who was on his year 10 work experience 

placement - Dan has volunteered before for events such as Memorial Sunday.  He worked 
really hard at the start of our Himalayan Balsam pulling season, and we would welcome him 
again in the future.  

 

Page 8



APPENDIX 1 

 

Project 
Ref 

Location Task Completed 

1 Werneth Low 
Road- from Lofty 
Top towards 
Quarry Car Park 

Mike Kelly - Hedgelaying field boundary hedge for 
wildlife and boundary maintenance.  Volunteers on 
Tuesdays REMOVE brashings from the field and 
making dead hedges in other more appropriate areas.       Feb - March 

2 Riding track from 
Higham Cottages 
up to Golf Course 

Hedgelaying- finish as much as possible within the 
weather and time constraints. Use brashings to make 
dead hedge further down the track. 
Plant hedging- in other areas along the track to see 
how they cope with the Rabbit predation.    Feb 

3 Side of the riding 
track next to the 
Golf Course 

Protect new hedgerow from damage from livestock 
and people with fencing.  

April / May 

4 Baron Fields- near 
Orchard Rise  

Cut back vegetation along the ditch and open up areas 
where Knotweed is for spraying 

April 

5 Formal gardens 
and Orchard 

Cobbled area outside the Croft- re-lay cobbles in 
cement (JJ) 

March – April 
- May 

6 Main path from 
Quarry Carpark to 
the Cenotaph  

Dry Stone Wall collapsed- rebuilt with pipe to improve 
drainage.  

April- May  

7 Werneth Low Road 
Bridle path 

Cut back to allow ease of passage- Fencing collapse 

April  

8 Across site  Fence posts mapping- replaced as needed (MK) 

April / May  

9 Field boundary 
wall- Cow Lane 
side of riding track 

Rebuild wall damaged by youth 
April / May 
and June 

10 Benches in orchard 
and any other 
needed 

Sanding and re-staining the benches. (BW) 

May  

11 Knotweed in Baron 
Fields 

Environment Agency permissions granted last year- 
Spraying of Knotweed completed by John Courtman 
with KL assist. May 

12 Wood Yard New gates constructed by Volunteers for the 
composting areas.  April 

13 Fencing on top 
Riding Track from 
Higham Cottages 
nr Cenotaph 

Temporary Fencing installed to prevent people 
crossing over from the riding track onto the Cenotaph 
Field, TMBC Estates Team to complete asap.  

May 

14 Various Locations Himalyan Balsam removal- we are hoping to push 
back to areas difficult to control.  May and June 

15 Visitors Centre Car 
Park 

Weekly litter pick, signs cleaned and driveway 
drainage maintained to keep clear.  Weekly 

16 Cow Lane and 
Cenotaph 

Clearance, cutting and preparation for Peace Day 

June 

 Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3. Minutes
	6. Greenspace Development Officer's Report

